## IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

JULIA W. LANGE, DAVID L. LANGE, JAMES S. WHITAKER, JR. and JAMES S. WHITAKER, SR., BY AND THROUGH THE EXECUTRIX OF THE ESTATE, JOYCE WHITAKER

Plaintiffs-Appellant

versus

Case No. 2007-TS-00533

CITY OF BATESVILLE

Defendant-Appellee

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The Statement of Issues before this Court are as follows:

- 1. Whether the Panola County Circuit Court properly held that affidavits filed by the Plaintiffs should not be considered by the Court under the parole evidence rule;
- 2. Whether the Panola County Circuit Court properly held that collateral estoppel applies to bar the Plaintiffs' claim; and
- 3. Whether the Panola County Circuit Court properly held that the Plaintiffs have failed to show any evidence of damages based on a breach of contract.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Statement of the Facts.

The Plaintiffs-Appellants ("Plaintiffs," "Plaintiffs-Appellants" or "Whitakers") own property that adjoins the Defendant-Appellee's ("Defendant," "Defendant-Appellee" or "City") property on the Whitaker Property's western border. The City property, located just south of Highway 6 and east of Interstate 55 in Panola County, Mississippi, is often referred to as the "Arena Property" as the City has constructed an arena on the property. Panola County ("County") originally owned the Arena Property and also intended, at one time, to construct a coliseum or arena there.

To secure the Whitaker Property, the County entered into an Agreement for Temporary Easement ("Agreement") with the Whitakers, relating to a strip of land owned by the Whitakers adjacent to the Arena Property. R. 109-111. In the Agreement, the Whitakers agreed to allow the

County to remove 70,000 cubic yards of dirt from the Whitaker Property and move it onto the Arena Property.<sup>1</sup> R. 109 In exchange, the County promised the Whitakers that they would be allowed to donate a strip of land adjacent to the Arena Property, and that on the strip a road would be constructed. R. 110.

Before entering the Agreement, the Whitakers expressed concern about the dimensions of the road to be constructed on the strip of land they would later donate. The County commissioned The Warrior Group, Ltd., an engineering firm in Memphis, Tennessee, to draw topographical maps ("the Warrior Group Plats") showing the soil to be transferred from the Whitaker property, the road, and structures to be constructed.

The Warrior Group Plats show a four-lane road crossing Highway 6 at a major intersection, and running generally from the northwest corner of the Whitaker property to the southwest part of the Whitaker property, along the eastern border of the Arena Property. R. 107-108. It was the Warrior Group Plats that were provided to the Whitakers, and upon which they relied, when they entered into the Agreement. The Agreement provided:

The purpose of this easement is to allow Panola County to excavate and remove approximately seventy thousand (70,000) cubic yards of dirt, as calculated by The Warrior Group, Ltd., from the above described property. R. 109.

Further, the road as contemplated was to continue south of the Whitaker property and north of Highway 6 as a connector which paralleled the I-55 and joined Highway 35.

Later, the City specifically acknowledged that it was accepting the obligation to the Whitakers as outlined in the Agreement. As early as August 3, 1998, Robert Avant, President of the County Board, wrote a letter to the City, stating:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The dirt, taken from the future road bed, was used directly for the benefit of the County and its successor in interest (the City) to level the Arena Property during site preparation.

James Whitaker has entered into an agreement for the donation of right-of-way along the east line of the arena property for the construction of a road. The city would be requested to honor this agreement. R. 63.

On June 16, 1999, in the final contract between the County and the City, the City agreed to "Abide by and honor the Agreement for Temporary Easement between the County and James S. Whitaker et al dated July 31, 1996...." R. 63 and 132. In the minutes for the City board meeting on February 18, 2000 (a mere three months before the City took the land from the Whitakers), the City publicly acknowledged the building of Whitaker Road. R. 67 and 146.

Other proof that the City understood the dimensions and configuration of the road it had promised to build is found in the 1997 "Agreement between Batesville Project, Inc., South Panola Community Hospital, and the City of Batesville" ("the Hospital/City Agreement") between the City and a different party. The Hospital/City Agreement in no way affected the plans to build the Whitaker Road. However, an examination of the exhibits included with the Hospital/City Agreement once again demonstrates the City's clear understanding of the scope of the road to be built adjacent to the Whitaker Property. The Hospital/City Agreement included as an exhibit a plat ("Tri-Lakes Study Plat") which is referred to numerous times in the Hospital/City Agreement. Like the Warrior Group Plats that the County had provided to the Whitakers, the Tri-Lakes Study plat once again indicated a four-lane road crossing Highway 6 at a major intersection, along the western boarder of the Whitaker Property and the eastern border of the Arena Property. The Tri-Lakes Study Plat is more clear evidence that the City understood the scope, nature, and configuration of the road promised to the Whitakers.

At the Board meeting on May 2, 2000, the City voted to move forward "on the agreement between the County and Mr. Whitaker that the City has agreed to honor." R. 63. At the September 5, 2000, Board meeting, the Board voted to determine "the layout of roads in the Civic Center"

Area...at a later date." R. 63. By this time, it was widely known that the out-of-state developer was trying to lure Wal-Mart to place an outlet on his land. Both Wal-Mart and an out-of-state developer were placing pressure on City officials to redesign the road plans for the area including the location of a major intersection west of the planned location of Whitaker Road, a location that would favor Wal-Mart to the exclusion of the Whitaker property located to the east of the Arena Property.

In light of the potential for a subsequent breach of the City's contract with the Whitakers, certain members of the Board demanded that the City reaffirm its promise to the Whitakers. Those members wanted a written affirmation of the contract with the Whitakers in the public record in case other members of the Board were later inclined to breach the agreement. Thus, on September 5, 2000, a majority of the Board still intended for the City to perform under its agreement, so they voted to build "the main road [as] the east most road agreed to in the original agreement." R. 64 (emphasis added). In doing so, the City acknowledged publicly - and in writing - that building a road through the Arena property to serve the out-of-state developer's property would not obviate their previous obligations to the Whitakers, and the City reaffirmed its intention to stand by those obligations.

Unfortunately, the vote did not settle the issue. On the morning of October 3, 2000, the City heard testimony from Mississippi Department of Transportation ("MDOT") officials that it would be unlikely for them to approve two roads of the dimensions promised for the Whitaker road with equal access to Highway 6 within 430 feet of each other where both of those roads were less than a half mile from I-55. The City's dilemma was now framed squarely: stand by its contractual obligations to the Whitakers, who had fully performed their part of the bargain, or yield to the pressure of the out-of-state-developer and Wal-Mart at the risk that they might subsequently be unable to honor their obligations to the Whitakers.

Later that day, apparently in response to continued demands by the out-of-state developer, the City went into executive session to discuss "the location of a large retail outlet near the new hospital." R. 64. Afterwards, in open session, a motion was made that would have enhanced a smaller existing opening to the Civic Center property located closer to the out-of-state developer's property. R. 64. The motion was defeated as another idea inconsistent with the obligation to build the main road into the Arena Property on the strip of land conveyed to the City by the Whitakers. Instead, the Board ordered the City Engineer to draw a road design that placed the main entrance to the Arena Property along the western border of the Whitaker property which was in line with the agreement between the parties. R. 64.

In spite of valiant efforts, the board members trying to prevent a breach of the contract with the Whitakers would lose their battle two weeks later. Although placement of the road serving the Arena Property was not on the agenda for its regular meeting of October 17, 2000, the issue of placement of the first road into the Arena Property was heard as the third item on the City's Agenda, in regular session. R. 64-5. No public comment was invited (or heard, other than the objection by counsel for the Whitakers), yet a vote was taken to adopt a plan for a major intersection proposed in a plat previously submitted by the out-of-state developer that had been previously rejected by the City. R. 64-5. The plan in question called for a major road to intersect Highway 6 near the middle of the Arena Property, before crossing through the Arena Property, and turning southwesterly to serve the out-of-state developer's land located to the west to the exclusion of the Whitaker Property. The Whitakers were never provided with a copy of this plan.

The Whitakers finally received a road on January 14, 2004, over seven years after the execution of the Agreement and over three years after their property was taken. Moreover, the road differs from what the Whitakers were originally promised as it is not a main intersection or access

to the south of Highway 6, it has no stop light, and is not, and never will be, part of a connecting artery joining Highway 35 and Highway 6. As such, the Whitakers have suffered a serious devaluation of their property as a result of not receiving a road as originally agreed to in a reasonable amount of time.

# B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

On October 27, 2000, the Whitakers timely filed a Bill of Exceptions, appealing the action of the Board. R. 163. The Whitakers provided the City with a Notice of Claim on March 14, 2001, and filed a complaint for damages in the District Court on April 4, 2001, stating certain federal claims and reserving the right to join State tort claims once administrative prerequisites under the Mississippi's Tort Claims Act ("MTCA") were satisfied. On April 16, 2001, the Whitakers filed with the Circuit Court in which the Bill of Exceptions was pending a Motion to Reserve the Right to Have Constitutional Issues Adjudicated in Federal Court, pursuant to *Jennings v. Caddo Parish Sch'l Bd.*, 531 F.2d 1331 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1976). The action in District Court was stayed and the Whitakers then amended the federal action to include State tort claims.

The Panola County Circuit Court ("Circuit Court") handed down its Order on May 31, 2001. R. 202. The only findings of fact made by the Court was that the City had not acted arbitrarily and capriciously by approving the location of a road to service a community hospital and other commercial developments as the primary road. R. 202. The Whitakers timely filed their Notice of Appeal.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals ruled on the Whitakers' appeal on September 3, 2002. R. 265-270. The Court noted that the matter was not ripe for adjudication as their had not yet been established a breach of the agreement. R. 269. In this regard, the Court specifically noted that since there was no time limitation contained within the contract; a reasonable time for performance should

be implied. R. 270. As there had been no evidence offered as to what would constitute a reasonable time to perform under a development contract, the Court had nothing to review with regard to timeliness. R. 270. Moreover, the Court noted that at some point, delay in and of itself could constitute a breach of the City's duty to build the road. R. 270.

In short, the Mississippi Supreme Court of Appeals recognized that one could not assume a breach of the City's obligation to build the road which it was obligated to build for the Whitakers, and that until the City gave notice of its intention to not comply with its obligation or until an impossibility of performance was proven, any question of breach was premature. Such an impediment to interpretation of the contract and determination of breach no longer exists. The City has now tendered a road which it contends complies with its contractual obligations. For the first time, the question is ripe for consideration as to the precise nature of the City's obligations with respect to Whitaker Road and whether the road tendered satisfies the obligations as to description and configuration as well as timeliness.

Following the rendering of this opinion by the Mississippi Supreme Court of Appeals, the stay in the District Court was lifted. On January 30, 2004, the City filed a Motion for Summary Judgment based upon these same legal principles. The District Court denied the same on August 11, 2004.

Shortly before trial, the City filed its Motion in Limine to Exclude Parol Evidence. The "primary issue raised by the instant motion is whether or not the phrase 'a public road' creates an ambiguity in the July 31, 1996, Agreement...." The District Court denied the Defendant's Motion in Limine and concluded that the Whitakers could proffer parol evidence to aid the jury's decision as to what was intended by the phrase "public road" as promised to the Whitakers. However, the District Court made other "important rulings" and expanded the scope of its Order. Specifically, the

District Court held that the Whitakers could:

attempt to prove that their constitutional right to just compensation for the taking of their property was violated because the defendant breached their agreement by (1) building the road in an untimely matter; and/or (2) not constructing the road according to the specifications agreed upon (as decided by the fact finder after hearing the parol evidence).

However, in offering proof of the second prong, the District Court held that "the plaintiff may not argue that the specifics were to include a 'main' or 'primary' road since the state courts have already ruled otherwise."

Following this Order, the District Court entered its Order Certifying Interlocutory Appeal dated January 3, 2005. The Whitakers' filed their Petition for Permission to File Interlocutory Appeal on January 13, 2005, which was denied by the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals.

Following this denial, the parties held a teleconference with the District Court Judge who requested that the Defendant renew its Motion for Summary Judgment. This was done which lead to the District Court's Order of April 11, 2005, and an appeal to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. The District Court recognized that he had "denied the defendant's motion for summary judgment on essentially the same grounds as presently set forth in the instant motion." R. 321. However, he reversed his initial reasoning and decided that the Mississippi Court of Appeals had already ruled on whether the Whitakers were to receive the "main" or "primary" road. R. 323. He further held that "all other issues" "are inextricably intertwined with the state court's decision in *Lange*, thereby precluding a trial in federal court under the *Rooker-Feldman* doctrine." *Id.* 

On appeal, the Fifth Circuit recognized that the Plaintiffs asserted two claims: (1) claims under 42 U.S.C. §1983 for violations of (a) the substantive and procedural components of the Due Process Clause, and (b) the Takings Clause; and (2) pendant state law claims. As to these pendant state law claims, the Fifth Circuit specifically vacated the District Court's grant of summary

judgment, dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and directed the Plaintiffs to seek compensation through state court in Mississippi. R. 324. As such, the Plaintiffs filed their action for breach of contract in Panola County Circuit Court on January 19, 2006. R. 3.

In the Panola County Circuit Court action, the Plaintiffs alleged in their Complaint that "[T]he City failed to construct Whitaker Road as the main road into the area in question in a timely manner despite the Whitakers providing the dirt as required under the agreement." R. 7. As discovery was already complete, the Defendant moved forward with the filing of its Motion for Summary Judgment. In doing so, the Defendant asserted collateral estoppel, res judicata, ripeness and exhaustion of remedies. R. 93. In finding for the Defendant, the Panola County Circuit Court did not consider the affidavits filed by the Plaintiffs based upon the parole evidence rule, found that collateral estoppel applies, and held the Plaintiffs failed to show any evidence or damages based on a breach of contract. R. 406. This ruling led to the instant appeal.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Panola County Circuit Court improperly held that affidavits filed by the Plaintiffs should not be considered by the Court under the parole evidence rule as the term "public road" is susceptible to more than one interpretation, the Agreement is incomplete as it fails to set forth the specifics of the "public road," and the parties to this case dispute the nature of the consideration bargained for.

Collateral estoppel does not apply to bar the Plaintiffs' claim as the bill of exceptions process does not take away the Whitakers' right to litigate. The issue of breach of contract was not essential to the decision of the Mississippi Court of Appeal which specifically declined addressing the issue as being premature until such time as the road was completed or the City indicated its intention not to perform.

Finally, the Plaintiffs have proven the existence of questions of fact as to: (1) the conformity

of the road to the contract requested and (2) the untimeliness of the building of Whitaker Road. The Plaintiffs' damage proof addresses damages caused both by compliance deficiencies and untimeliness.

### **ARGUMENT**

A. The Affidavits Filed by the Plaintiffs Should Be Considered by the Court under the Parole Evidence Rule Which Creates a Question of Fact as to Whether the City Breached its Contract with the Whitakers.

Based upon extensive discovery, a question of fact exists as to whether the City breached its contract. As stated above, the City specifically acknowledged time and time again that it accepted the obligations of the County to the Whitakers. In determining the nature of those obligations, this Court must determine, as District Court Judge Pepper did, that an ambiguity exists making the parole evidence rule inapplicable and requiring a look outside the four corners of the Agreement.

Whenever the terms of a contract are susceptible to more than one interpretation, or an ambiguity arises, or the intent and object of the contract can not be ascertained from the language employed, parole evidence may be introduced to show what was in the minds of the parties at the time of the making of the contract. *See Hadad v. Booth*, 82 So.2d 639, 643 (Miss. 1955). The ambiguity may arise from words which are uncertain when applied to the subject matter of the contract. *Id.* Specifically, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated the following:

Where a contract is to construed by its terms alone, it is the duty of the court to interpret it; but where its meaning is obscure, and its construction depends upon other and extrinsic facts in connection with what is written, the question of interpretation should be submitted to the jury, under proper instructions. Id. (emphasis added).

The Mississippi Supreme Court went on to state that "[I]t is for the jury to determine what is the agreement of the parties, where there is uncertainty in a written contract because of ambiguity or doubtfulness." *Id.* 

This situation has arisen in defining simple words in several different settings. For example, several cases have dealt with the definition of the word "timber" in timber contracts. In *Kerl v. Smith* 51 So. 3 (Miss. 1910) involving a written contract for the sale of timber, the Mississippi Supreme Court said:

[I]t was competent for the Plaintiff to show what was meant by the word 'timber' in this contract, and it was error for the Court to exclude testimony offered for this purpose. The use of the word 'timber' in the contract, with nothing to explain in the contract what kind of timber is meant, it is not so accurate designation of what was sold as to preclude investigation as to what was meant by it in this ambiguous contract. *Id.* at 4.

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