(P)

Case No. 2007-TS-00533 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JULIA W. LANGE, DAVID L. LANGE, JAMES S. WHITAKER, JR., and JAMES S. WHITAKER, SR., BY AND THROUGH THE EXECUTRIX OF THE ESTATE, JOYCE WHITAKER

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

VS.

CITY OF BATESVILLE

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record hereby certifies that the persons listed below are either parties to this appeal or have an interest in the outcome of this lawsuit. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible recusal or disqualification.

- Julia W. Lange
 212 Broadway
 Batesville, MS 38606
 Plaintiff-Appellant

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Panola County Circuit Court has properly held that affidavits filed by Appellants should not be considered by the Court under the parol evidence rule. It is the duty of the person contracting with the board to know that the Board can only act through its official records and to make sure that all terms of agreement are placed on the Board's Minutes. Under Mississippi law, Appellants had a duty to ensure (1) that the written contract executed by the Board of Supervisors contained *all* of the terms, conditions, and consideration which they believed were encompassed by the *Agreement for Temporary Easement*, and (2) that *all* the documents which constituted part of their contractual agreement with the County were placed upon the Minutes of the Board of Supervisors. Appellants did neither. Thus the County was never contractually bound by Appellants unwritten "terms," and neither is the City of Batesville.

The four elements of collateral estoppel are satisfied.² Appellants' factual and transactional relationship has not changed from their prior state and federal litigation. Appellants continue to base their claims on the same set of facts; they assert the same breach of contract; they proffer the same expert report; and they demand the same relief which they have been asserting for the past five years. The relation in time, space, origin of the facts, as well as the motivation of the parties, formed a convenient trial unit in both prior litigations. The summary of the facts which Appellants list in their original *Bill of Exceptions*, their federal *Complaint*, and their current *Complaint* are almost identical.

¹ Martin v. Newell, 198 Miss. 809, 815, 23 So.2d 796, 797 (Miss. 1945).

² Four elements must be satisfied before collateral estoppel can operate as a bar to litigation of an issue:

⁽¹⁾ the plaintiff is seeking to relitigate a specific issue,

⁽²⁾ the issue has already been litigated in a prior lawsuit,

⁽³⁾ the issue was actually determined in the prior lawsuit, and

⁽⁴⁾ the determination of the issue was essential to the judgment in the prior lawsuit. Walker, 793 F. Supp. at 695.

The only new fact which Appellants add to their current *Complaint* is that they finally "received" a road on January 14th, 2004. Circuit Judge Lamar determined in her March 7, 2007, opinion that it was reasonable, and not a breach of contract for the City, to have completed Whitaker Road before the completion of the Civic Center.

To recover in an action for breach of contract, Appellants must prove (1) the existence of a binding contract, (2) breach of that contract, and (3) causally related monetary damages.³ As a matter of law, Appellants have suffered neither damages nor breach of contract. Appellants do not actually attribute any of their "damages" to the issue of timeliness. Their "damages" result solely from a City decision—to build House-Carlson Drive—which did not breach their Agreement for Temporary Easement. Their unilateral expectations do not rise to the level of unwritten contract terms accepted by either Panola County or the City of Batesville.

V. ARGUMENT

For the following reasons, this Court should affirm the Panola County Circuit Court's Order Granting Summary Judgment:

A. The Panola County Circuit Court properly held that the affidavits filed by Appellants should not be considered by the Court under the parol evidence rule.

The Panola County Circuit Court was correct in stating that it should not review the affidavits in determining whether there was a breach of the Agreement. The Supreme Court in *Neider v. Franklin*, 844 So. 2d 433, 436 (Miss. 2003), cited by the Fifth Circuit in *Lange v. City of Batesville*, 160 Fed. Appx. 345 (5th Cir. 2005) (R. 327) set forth the law in a contract case regarding parol

³ Warwick v. Matheney, 603 So.2d 330, 336 (Miss. 1992)("In any suit for a breach of contract, the plaintiff has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence:

^{1.} the existence of a valid and binding contract; and

^{2.} that the defendant has broken, or breached it; and

^{3.} that he has been thereby damaged monetarily").

evidence:

A question of law/question of fact dichotomy requires a two-step inquiry in contract law. First of all, it is a question of law for the court to determine whether a contract is ambiguous, and if not, enforce the contract as written. In the event of an ambiguity, a subsequent interpretation presents a question of fact for the jury which we review under the substantial evidence/manifest error standard.

Boards of Supervisors and Boards of Aldermen can only act as a body and their acts must be evidenced by an entry on the minutes.⁴ The Court of Appeals has recently reiterated that it is an error to admit testimony of supervisors to tell what the Board did or did not do, and if their testimony constituted a determining factor in a judge's decision, there is reversible error.⁵ Appellants were responsible to see that the contract was legal and properly recorded on the minutes of the Board.⁶ Appellants cannot at this point in litigation attempt to come before this court and introduce "unwritten" terms from the Board of Supervisors meeting. Under Mississippi law, Appellants had a duty to insure: (1) that a written contract executed by the Board of Supervisors contained all of the terms, conditions and consideration which they believed were encompassed by the Agreement for Temporary Easement and (2) that all the documents which constituted part of their contractual agreement with the County were placed upon the minutes of the Board of Supervisors. Appellants did neither. Thus, the County was never contractually bound by the Whitakers' unwritten terms, and neither is the City of Batesville.

The City's minutes show that it only adopted the written terms of the Agreement for

⁴Martin v. Newell, 23 So. 2d 796 (Miss. 1945), among other cases.

⁵Burdsal v. Marshall County, 937 So.2d 45 (Miss. App. 2006).

⁶Rawls Springs Utility Dist. v. Novak, 765 So.2d 1288, 1291 (Miss. 2000); Thompson v. Jones County Community Hospital, 352 So.2d 795, 797 (Miss. 1977).

Temporary Easement, to the exclusion of all other agreements and understandings. By its minutes, the City promised to:

[a]bide by and honor the Agreement for Temporary Easement between the County and James S. Whitaker et al dated July 31, 1996, and recorded in Deed Book S-8 at Page 126 in the Batesville Office of the Chancery Clerk of Panola County, Mississippi, a copy of which is attached hereto.⁷

The minutes specified that, aside from what was actually written in the Agreement, the City did not "assume, and shall not be deemed by its execution and performance of this Agreement to have assumed, and shall not be liable or responsible for, any other obligations of the County (contractual, legal, equitable, or otherwise)." The City never adopted Appellants unwritten "terms" and cannot be contractually bound by them. The fact that the terms of a written contract or conveyance cannot be varied or added to by parol evidence is not merely a rule of evidence, but is one of substantive law. In measuring the rights of the parties to a written contract or conveyance, which, on its face, is unambiguous and expresses an agreement complete in all of its essential terms, the writing will control. The control of the parties to a written contract or conveyance, which, on its face, is unambiguous and expresses an agreement complete in all of its essential terms, the writing will control.

Additionally, Appellants have put forth absolutely no proof for their assertion that the "other good and valuable consideration" for the donation of the land as used in the agreement was the building of a "public" road as the "main" road.

The Agreement for Temporary Easement provided:

⁷Minutes of the City of Batesville, taken on 11-2-99 at Minute Book pages 51-52 (numbered therein as page 13, paragraph (a)(5) of the City-County Interlocal Agreement)(R. 39-40); Minute Book pages 60-64 reprint the entire Agreement for Temporary Easement originally entered between Panola County and the Whitakers (R. 48-52).

⁸Id. at pages 51-52, paragraph (B)(1)(R. 39-40).

⁹Carroll v. Henry, 798 So.2d 560, 562 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

¹⁰*Id*.

If the Grantee commences Phase 2 of such project within two (2) years of the date hereof, then the grantors agree to dedicate to the county such part of the above described 5.47 acres as may be needed for a public road. If Phase 2 is not commenced within two (2) years but the County has evidenced good faith to commence same within a reasonable period of time, then the Grantors agree to extend the aforesaid two (2) year period for a reasonable time.

The proof before lower court in the easement agreement and the minutes of the Board was that Appellants would dedicate the land to the county for "a public road". There is no dispute that "a public road" has been built on the land. A five-lane road which intersects with Highway 6 was completed in January of 2004 on the property donated by Appellants. The deed was executed to the City of May 23, 2000. (R. 64). The Civic Center was completed in January of 2005. (R. 65). The original agreement for the easement was signed in July of 1996. (R. 62).

B. Collateral Estoppel Applies to Bar Appellants' Claims

Collateral estoppel focuses on something relatively narrow - an issue that was litigated and determined in the first case, and that is relevant in a second case. With collateral estoppel, the issue is deemed established in the second case without need to proffer evidence on it. The Supreme Court in Mayor and Bd. Of Aldermen v. Home Builders Ass'n of Miss., Inc., 932 So. 2d 44, 59 (Miss. 2006) recently discussed this principle:

¹¹Collateral estoppel protects litigants from the burden of relitigation. It must be applied cautiously on an *ad hoc* basis in order to preserve the critical component of due process, i.e., the requirement every party have an opportunity to fully and fairly litigate an issue. *Norman v. Buckley*, 684 So.2d 1246, 1253 (Miss. 1996). Collateral estoppel may be asserted only against someone who was a party (or in privity with a party) in the previous case where the issue was actually litigated and determined. The effect of collateral estoppel is to "establish conclusively questions of law or fact that have received a final judgment for the purposes of a later lawsuit." *McCoy v. Colonial Baking Co., Inc.*, 572 So.2d 850, 854 (Miss. 1990). When collateral estoppel does apply, "the parties will be precluded from relitigating a specific issue actually litigated, determined by, and essential to the judgment in a former action, even though a different cause of action is the subject of the subsequent action." *Channel v. Loyacono*, 954 So.2d 415, 425 (Miss. Apr 19, 2007); *Mayor and Bd. of Aldermen, City of Ocean Springs v. Homebuilders Ass'n of Mississippi, Inc.*, 932 So.2d 44, 59 (Miss. 2006).

Under the doctrine of collateral estoppel, "an appellant is precluded from relitigating in the present suit specific questions actually litigated and determined by an essential to the judgment in the prior suit, even though a different cause of action is the subject of the present suit." Lyle Cashion Co. v. McKendrick, 227 Miss. 894, 87 So. 2d 289, 293 (Miss. 1956). Further, collateral estoppel, unlike the broader question of res judicata, applies only to questions actually litigated in a prior suit and not to questions which might have been litigated." Dunaway v. W.H. Hopper & Assoc., 422 So. 2d 749, 751 (Miss. 1982) (quoting Johnson v. Bagby, 252 Miss. 125, 171 So. 2d 327 (Miss. 1965).

For collateral estoppel to operate as a bar to litigation of an issue, four elements must be satisfied: (1) the plaintiff is seeking to relitigate a specific issue, (2) the issue has already been litigated in a prior lawsuit, (3) the issue was actually determined in the prior lawsuit, and (4) the determination of the issue was essential to the judgment in the prior lawsuit. The four elements of collateral estoppel are satisfied here. Appellants' factual and transactional relationship has not changed from their prior state and federal litigation. Appellants continue to base their claims on the same set of facts; they assert the same breach of contract; they proffer the same expert report; and they demand the same relief which they have been asserting for the past five years. The relation in time, space, origin of the facts, as well as the motivation of the parties, formed a convenient trial unit in both prior litigations.

The summary of the facts which Appellants list in their original *Bill of Exceptions*, their federal *Complaint* and their January 19, 2006 *Complaint* filed in Panola County Circuit Court are all strikingly similar, almost identical, as if they were cut and pasted from one document to the next. The only new fact which Appellants add to their current *Complaint* is that they finally "received" a road on January 14, 2004. (R. 7). To this fact they couple a new allegation-that they suffered a

¹²Walker v. Kerr-McGee Chemical Corporation, 793 F. Supp. 688, 695 (N.D. Miss. 1992).

serious devaluation of their property for not receiving the road within a reasonable amount of time.¹³ However, they cite no new facts which would support this allegation. Appellants merely disguise their prior claims under the new claim of "timeliness" and sue on the same body of facts, asserting the same causation of injury - the approval and construction of House-Carlson Drive.

To avoid collateral estoppel, Appellants "timeliness" claim must be "premised upon an alleged breach of the Agreement that is wholly separate and distinct from the breach alleged to underlie the House-Carlson Drive claim." However, Appellants have not done so. Appellants still attribute all of their damages to the existence of House-Carlson Drive and to Wal-Mart's determination to locate off of House-Carlson Drive. Accordingly, collateral estoppel bars their "timeliness" claim just as it bars their traffic-light, "main" intersection, "main" access, and "connecting artery" claims.

Additionally, any argument regarding the building of House-Carlson Drive, that is the Whitaker Road is not the "main" road, is also precluded by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. This exact issue was addressed in the appeal filed by the same plaintiffs against the same defendant in which the Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed the Panola County Circuit Court. (R. 411).

In their brief, Appellants make much of the idea that a breach of contract action does not address the same issues or seek the same relief as a bill of exceptions. What Appellants do not explain to this Court is that, five years ago, they included in their appeal a breach of contract action seeking money damages.¹⁵ They have already claimed that the City's decision devalued their

¹³Id. at 5 ¶22. (R. 7).

¹⁴Lange v. City of Batesville, 160 Fed Appx. 348, 354 (5th Cir. 2005) (R. 328).

¹⁵Lange v. City of Batesville, 832 So.2d 1236, 1240 (¶17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) ("The Whitakers want the City to be ordered to commence building a five-lane road to the Arena Project along the western boundary of their property consistent with the May 23, 2000 deed."). They alternatively seek damages.")(R. 269).

property and adversely impacted negotiations entered into with other parties about the sale or development of their property. The Mississippi Court of Appeals found that a breach had not yet occurred, and that the building of House-Carlson Drive as the main road did not breach the Agreement. The Panola County Circuit Court affirmed this decision in its Opinion dated March 7, 2007, specifically stating that any argument that the building of Whitaker Road not as the "main" road is precluded by collateral estoppel. This exact issue was addressed in the appeal filed by the same Appellants against the City of Batesville and which the Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed. Specifically, in her Opinion, Circuit Judge Lamar found that Appellants' argument that collateral estoppel should not apply had no merit because Appellants included in their 2002 appeal a breach of contract action seeking money damages claiming that the City's decision devalued their property and adversely impacted negotiations entered into with other parties about the sale or development of their property.

C. The Panola County Circuit Court Properly Held That Appellants Have Failed To Show Any Evidence of Damages Based on Breach of Contract

1. The Contract Was Performed Within a Reasonable Amount of Time

It is a basic rule of construction that an individual contract provision should be interpreted consistent with the contract's overall purpose.²¹ The Court will not strain the bounds of the English

 $^{^{16}}Id$.

¹⁷Lange v. City of Batesville, 832 So.2d 1236, 1240 (¶22) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).(R. 269).

¹⁸Opinion of Panola County Circuit Judge Lamar, (Mar. 7, 2007) at 6 (R. 411).

 $^{^{19}}Id.$

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